

## **Research Priorities and Opportunities in U.S. Wholesale Electricity Markets**

Market Design under Deep Decarbonization

#### **About Argonne National Laboratory**

Argonne is a U.S. Department of Energy laboratory managed by UChicago Argonne, LLC under contract DE-AC02-06CH11357. The Laboratory's main facility is outside Chicago, at 9700 South Cass Avenue, Lemont, Illinois 60439. For information about Argonne and its pioneering science and technology programs, see www.anl.gov.

#### DOCUMENT AVAILABILITY

**Online Access:** U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) reports produced after 1991 and a growing number of pre-1991 documents are available free at OSTI.GOV (http://www.osti.gov/), a service of the US Dept. of Energy's Office of Scientific and Technical Information.

#### Reports not in digital format may be purchased by the public

from the National Technical Information Service (NTIS): U.S. Department of Commerce National Technical Information Service 5301 Shawnee Road Alexandria, VA 22312 www.ntis.gov Phone: (800) 553-NTIS (6847) or (703) 605-6000 Fax: (703) 605-6900 Email: orders@ntis.gov

#### Reports not in digital format are available to DOE and DOE contractors

from the Office of Scientific and Technical Information (OSTI): U.S. Department of Energy Office of Scientific and Technical Information P.O. Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-0062 www.osti.gov Phone: (865) 576-8401 Fax: (865) 576-5728 Email: reports@osti.gov

#### Disclaimer

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor UChicago Argonne, LLC, nor any of their employees or officers, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of document authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof, Argonne National Laboratory, or UChicago Argonne, LLC.

ANL-24/07

## **Research Priorities and Opportunities in U.S. Wholesale Electricity Markets**

Market Design under Deep Decarbonization

prepared by

Todd Levin,<sup>1</sup> Bethany Frew,<sup>2</sup> Alexandre Moreira,<sup>3</sup> Erik Ela,<sup>4</sup> Mahdi Mehrtash,<sup>5</sup> Abe Silverman,<sup>6</sup> Audun Botterud,<sup>1</sup> Zhi Zhou,<sup>1</sup> Nongchao Guo,<sup>2</sup> Miguel Heleno,<sup>3</sup> Ryan Schoppe,<sup>4</sup> Robin Hytowitz,<sup>4</sup> and Benjamin Hobbs<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Argonne National Laboratory

<sup>2</sup> National Renewable Energy Laboratory

<sup>3</sup> Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

<sup>4</sup> Electric Power Research Institute

<sup>5</sup> Johns Hopkins University

<sup>6</sup> Columbia University

April 2024

### CONTENTS

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS				
1	INTRODUCTION: ELECTRICITY MARKETS UNDER DEEP			
				1
2	KL0	DARCI		4
	2.1	Incent	ivizing Reliability Services and Operational Flexibility	4
		2.1.1	Changing Reliability Needs and Grid Requirements	4
		2.1.2	Economic Procurement of Grid Services	4
		2.1.3	Deliverability of Grid Services	5
		2.1.4	Reliable Operations during Extreme Events	5
		2.1.5	Increasing Demand Response Participation	6
	2.2	Integra	ating New and Emerging Technologies into Wholesale Market Operations	8
		2.2.1	New Market Participation Models	8
		2.2.2	Improved Technology Representation in Scheduling and Dispatch	8
		2.2.3	Cross-Technology and Cross-Sectoral Coordination	9
		2.2.4	Adequate Mechanisms for Managing Investment Risk	9
		2.2.5	Market Power Monitoring and Mitigation	10
		2.2.6	Equitable Technology Deployment	10
	2.3	Resou	rce Adequacy (RA) and System Resilience	12
		2.3.1	Revenue Sufficiency and Risk Allocation	12
		2.3.2	Supply-side Uncertainty and Variability	13
		2.3.3	Demand-side Uncertainty	13
		2.3.4	Extreme Weather Events and Infrastructure Interdependencies	13
	2.4	Price l	Formation	16
		2.4.1	Improved Scarcity Pricing	16
		2.4.2	Enhanced Market Mechanisms for Emerging Technologies	17
		2.4.3	Uncertainty Representation in Price Formation	17
		2.4.4	Capturing Social Objectives in Prices	18
2.5 Transmission and Distribution (T&D) Sy		Transı	mission and Distribution (T&D) System Coordination	20
		2.5.1	Coordinated T&D Planning	20
		2.5.2	Improved Market Participation Models for DERs and DSRs	20
		2.5.3	Communications, Controls, and Dispatch Software	21
		2.5.4	Policy and Regulatory Structures for DER Integration	21
		2.5.5	Capturing Reliability Contributions from the Distribution System	21
	2.6	Transı	mission Planning	23
		2.6.1	Multi-regional Coordination	23
		2.6.2	Coordination with Generation Expansion Planning (GEP)	23
		2.6.3	Interconnection Reform	24
		2.6.4	Robust and Equitable Cost Allocation	24
		2.6.5	Consideration of HVAC, HVDC, and Non-wires Alternatives (NWAs)	24
		2.6.6	Transmission Siting	25

## CONTENTS (CONT.)

	2.7 Achieving Clean Energy Objectives		27
	2.7.1	Split Jurisdiction between State and Federal Policies	27
	2.7.2	Emerging Clean Energy Market Mechanisms	27
	2.7.3	Objective Compatible Policies and Regulations	
	2.7.4	Maintaining RA and Operational Reliability	
3	CONCLUS	SIONS AND PATH FORWARD	31
4	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		
5	REFEREN	CES	

### TABLES

1	Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Incentivizing Reliability Services and Operational Flexibility7
2	Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Integrating New and Emerging Technologies into Wholesale Market Operations
3	Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to RA and System Resilience
4	Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Energy Price Formation
5	Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to T&D System Coordination
6	Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Transmission Planning
7	Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Achieving Clean Energy Objectives

### FIGURE

1	Key Research Challenges across Seven Areas of Wholesale Electricity Market
	Design under Deep Decarbonization

### **ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS**

CAISO	California Independent System Operator
CEAC	clean electricity attribute certificate
DEFR	dispatchable emission-free resource
DER	distributed energy resource
DOE	U.S. Department of Energy
DSO	distribution system operator
DSR	demand-side resource
EERE	Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy
ERCOT	Electric Reliability Council of Texas
FACTS	flexible alternating current transmission system
FCEM	forward clean energy market
FERC	Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
GEP	generation expansion planning
HVAC	high-voltage alternating current
HVDC	high-voltage direct current
ICCM	integrated clean capacity market
ISO	independent system operator
ISO-NE	ISO New England
LDES	long-duration energy storage
LSE	load-serving entity
MISO	Midcontinent Independent System Operator
NREL	National Renewable Energy Laboratory
NWA	non-wires alternative
NYISO	New York Independent System Operator
PJM	PJM Interconnection
RA	resource adequacy
REC	renewable energy certificate
RTO	regional transmission operator
SOC	state of charge
SPP	Southwest Power Pool

T&D	transmission and distribution
TEP	transmission expansion planning

- VAr
- volt-ampere reactive variable renewable energy VRE

#### 1 INTRODUCTION: ELECTRICITY MARKETS UNDER DEEP DECARBONIZATION

The Biden administration has set an ambitious goal to generate 100% of electricity in the United States from carbon-free energy sources by 2035. It is important to understand not just which technologies can be deployed to achieve this goal cost-effectively, but also whether and how wholesale electricity markets must evolve to enable these deployments while maintaining reliable, resilient operations through 2035 and beyond. A transition to zero-carbon power may motivate fundamental paradigm shifts in existing market designs and procedures, and in the tools used to operate and plan these power systems. On the other hand, existing market structures may instead prove largely sufficient to meet the challenges posed by decarbonization and therefore continue to evolve incrementally. In either case, research is needed to better understand the value competitive wholesale electricity markets can provide in a deeply decarbonized future and how they may evolve to support economically efficient short- and long-term decision making by market participants while also meeting other societal goals.

Over the past decade, there have been extensive discussions on market design needs, challenges, and proposed solutions for deeply decarbonized power systems. Many of these assume that future low-carbon power systems will be dominated by variable renewable energy (VRE) resources. However, there is no consensus on the optimal path forward for market design. Market design studies have included a wide range of possible impacts, such as reliability and economic efficiency, as well as proposed market design options ranging from incremental to more fundamental changes. In the following discussion, we briefly summarize a selection of this existing literature.

Several studies have reviewed challenges associated with using competitive markets to maintain physical system reliability and market efficiency in deeply decarbonized systems, providing broad guiding principles for future enhancements (e.g., Ela et al. 2021, 2019, 2014; Hogan 2022, 2010; Zhou et al. 2022; Aggarwal et al. 2019; Olsen et al. 2021). Multiple studies suggest that increasing market participation from zero-fuel-cost resources does not fundamentally alter the core economic principles of competitive wholesale markets (Tarel et al. 2022; Zhou et al. 2022), and therefore argue that current core market structures should be preserved (Leslie et al. 2020; Olsen et al. 2021). Others highlight potential problems associated with incremental reforms to current markets (Pierpont and Nelson 2017), focus on approaches to maintain efficient interactions between short-term market prices and long-term market mechanisms driven by regulatory considerations (Aggarwal et al. 2019; Batlle et al. 2021), or raise questions as to whether current market designs are compatible with public policy goals (Joskow 2019). Some propose concrete changes in market design. These include a combination of a long-term energy market and a real-time delivery market (Pierpont and Nelson 2017); a standardized, fixed-price-forward contract approach (Wolak 2021); and market design enhancements that would operate in parallel to today's energy markets (Corneli 2020). Several others focus on perspectives in specific regions—such as Europe (Newbery et al. 2018) or California (Tierney 2018)—that may be broadly applicable elsewhere. Alternatively, some compare current market frameworks in the United States and Europe in the context of maintaining resource adequacy (RA) throughout the transition to decarbonized systems (Botterud and Auer 2020). Distinct from forward-looking discussions of market needs based on economic

principles and modeling studies, some empirical analyses have also reviewed the historical impacts of VRE resources on wholesale market outcomes (for example, in the United States [Wiser et al. 2017] and Australia [Rai and Nunn 2020]).

This report contributes to the body of literature by reviewing key challenges for competitive wholesale electricity market design in deeply decarbonized power systems and establishing potential solutions and associated research needs. We provide a long-term perspective on ways in which competitive wholesale electricity markets can evolve to ensure that they still operate efficiently throughout the transition to a deeply decarbonized future. In this report, we use the term "deep decarbonization" to refer broadly to systems that generate nearly all their electricity from zero-carbon or carbon-neutral resources, while recognizing that there are many potential configurations of such systems. We also stress that many of these issues will arise to varying degrees as systems move toward full decarbonization, even if they are not truly 100% carbon-free.

In ongoing debates about changes in electricity policy, there is an important distinction between two basic features of electricity markets: (1) *market design*, which establishes definitions of market products, price formation mechanisms, and auction features; and (2) *market structure*, which establishes roles and responsibilities related to decision making, allocating risk, and pursuing social objectives. Both design and structure may evolve due to regional or national policy choices or in response to technological and financial drivers (Aggarwal et al. 2019).

The first six sections of this report focus on research needs in market design, emphasizing technical and economic challenges and solutions; the general assumption is that market structure may remain broadly similar to its construct today. Those sections are organized around the same topics as our earlier report, Sun et al. (2021), which focused on near-term market design challenges but did not specifically consider long-term power system decarbonization goals. The following six topics were identified through a review of publications from independent system operators (ISOs), regional transmission operators (RTOs), industry reports, and academic literature: (1) reliability and flexibility services, (2) market integration of emerging technologies, (3) adequacy and resilience, (4) wholesale price formation, (5) interactions between transmission and distribution (T&D) systems and wholesale and retail markets, and (6) transmission planning. Section 2.7 introduces a seventh topic: a closer look at how clean energy regulations and policies may affect market structure under deep decarbonization. Figure 1 summarizes the key challenges highlighted across all seven topic areas. Each section leads with a brief introduction, then provides additional narrative with further context and discussion across a range of related challenges and opportunities. The section then concludes with a table summarizing these challenges, potential solutions, and associated research needs.

# **DECARBONIZING** THE ELECTRIC GRID

Key research challenges across seven areas of wholesale electricity market design under deep decarbonization



Figure 1. Key Research Challenges across Seven Areas of Wholesale Electricity Market Design under Deep Decarbonization

#### **2** RESEARCH PRIORITIES

# 2.1 INCENTIVIZING RELIABILITY SERVICES AND OPERATIONAL FLEXIBILITY

Independent of decarbonization goals, short-term operations of a power system must ensure that demand and supply are always balanced, while maintaining power flows within physical limits and meeting reliability requirements. Wholesale market operators in the United States are critically important; to ensure bulk power systems operate reliably, they provide market signals that incentivize resources to provide energy, operating reserves, and other grid services when and where they are needed. Currently, centralized wholesale power markets in the United States conduct short-term operations through day-ahead and real-time (balancing) markets for energy and a suite of ancillary services. These market frameworks are generally successful at providing short-term operations and flexibility. However, the operational needs of the system are continuously evolving in response to technological changes, increasing reliance on variable generation and inverter-based resources, growth in energy storage resources, increasing participation from responsive customer demand, and increasing controllability of distributed resources. As a result, the market mechanisms that provide signals to procure existing and new grid services may need to evolve as well. Several specific challenges, potential solutions, and prospective research areas are outlined in Table 1.

#### 2.1.1 Changing Reliability Needs and Grid Requirements

A deeply decarbonized electricity system will have needs that are very similar to those of today's system, but the deeply decarbonized system may also have new reliability requirements and market products. Meeting changing reliability needs may require changes to market design, grid codes, standards, software, and operational strategies. New grid services may need to be established to provide system attributes that have traditionally been widely available (e.g., inertia). Definitions of existing grid services may need to be updated to better reflect system needs, or adapted to facilitate procurement through wholesale markets. New incentive mechanisms may also be needed to efficiently procure these services through wholesale and retail market structures.

#### 2.1.2 Economic Procurement of Grid Services

System reliability can be maintained by acquiring services through competitive shortterm auctions, interconnection requirements, centralized procurement through request for bids, or cost-of-service reimbursement. In the future, some services that are currently procured through cost-of-service mechanisms may be obtained more cost-effectively through spot markets or competitive long-term auctions, while the converse may hold true for other services currently obtained through competitive processes (O'Neill et al. 2008). For example, it remains to be seen whether technologies that are needed to support a potential transition from mostly synchronous generation to inverter-based resources will be incentivized through competitive auctions, grid codes, cost-of-service regulation, or other methods. New market processes should also explicitly balance the value and cost of services to provide appropriate incentives, for instance through demand curves for operating reserves and system flexibility (Mehrtash et al. 2023). Another possibility that has been explored is transitioning away from a centralized unit-commitment process to something that aligns more closely with the resource mix change. Many features of current day-ahead electricity markets, including lead times, commitment constraints, and three-part offers with startup and no-load costs, were developed in response to the characteristics of traditional thermal generation technologies. In a future dominated by different resource types, it may no longer be important for market clearing processes to capture these costs and constraints. One option could be a transition to day-ahead markets with one-part offers, while providing market participants with more opportunities to adjust their positions—as is currently the case in many European markets. Another option may be a market clearing tool that focuses on storage operation, such as the security-constrained optimization process for storage resources.

#### 2.1.3 Deliverability of Grid Services

New procedures may also be needed to ensure that grid services can be delivered when and where they are needed as the composition of the power system changes. Specifically, it will be important to account for a transmission system that is more heavily constrained through more diverse siting of resources across a network, especially when the transmission system is not able to keep up with new builds. In addition, changes in grid dynamics introduced by inverter-based resources and fuel delivery interdependencies (e.g., hydrogen) can affect locational needs across the network. The same challenges may arise on the distribution system, particularly when distributed energy resources (DERs) provide large amounts of energy and other grid services to the transmission system via wholesale market interactions. Market solutions may also be applied directly to distribution systems, using competition to motivate innovative approaches to provide grid services (Andrianesis et al. 2022).

#### 2.1.4 Reliable Operations during Extreme Events

The changing climate will likely lead to increased periods of extreme weather, which will alter demand profiles and stress system infrastructure (IPCC 2021; Zobel et al. 2017). Market solutions may help efficiently prepare for and recover from those events. Customer-sited backup power sources and robust microgrids can support system reliability and resilience when events such as wildfires or hurricanes impact the bulk power system's ability to deliver energy (Brown and Muehlenbachs 2023). Such resources could be integrated into market operations to ensure that these resources are used efficiently. However, regulators must also help to ensure that these types of options are available to all consumer classes, including vulnerable populations. Markets could also aim to support reliability under extreme weather conditions by explicitly incentivizing investment in long-duration energy storage (LDES) technologies and other resources (for example, winterization). Finally, new grid models and data are needed to capture the impacts of future climate conditions and to better capture the links between power systems and other energy networks that may face highly disruptive common-mode failures during certain types of extreme weather events.

#### 2.1.5 Increasing Demand Response Participation

Many studies show that large increases in responsive demand-side participation are essential to meet energy needs alongside a supply fleet dominated by VRE (O'Shaughnessy et al. 2022). Flexible demand can facilitate continual matching of supply and demand across time and space, and in some cases can also provide specific reliability services. Flexible demand participation can be further enhanced by better understanding how the value of lost load varies across customer classes and end uses. These preferences can then be used to enhance price signals to better reflect the marginal cost and value of energy at a specific time. To efficiently incentivize flexible demand through wholesale market mechanisms, it will be important to clearly define reliability needs, identify sources of operational flexibility, and improve representation of customer preferences and responses in market operations and planning procedures. It will be important for wholesale market operators, retail rate designers, and regulators of both systems to work together to understand what types of incentives are best signaled through retail rates and which are more important to provide through wholesale prices. This will require stronger coordination between wholesale and retail markets to ensure that services are not double counted in payments, as well as T&D system coordination (see Section 2.5).

Table 1. Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Incentivizing ReliabilityFlexibility

Challenge	General Solutions	Specific Research Areas
Satisfy evolving reliability needs and grid requirements	<ul> <li>Tailor grid services to ensure reliability in systems dominated by variable, inverter-based, and energy-constrained resources.</li> <li>Incentivize provision of reliability services to align with actual T&amp;D benefits and costs.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Analyze system and market participant impacts of alternative grid service products under future grid conditions.</li> <li>Adapt services to support evolving resource portfolios.</li> <li>Ensure new products consider the welfare of both sellers and buyers and reflect equitable cost allocation methodologies and allocate costs equitably.</li> </ul>
Procure reliability services efficiently	<ul> <li>Develop cost-effective solutions for providing reliability and flexibility services in future systems.</li> <li>Provide needed services without duplicating efforts or introducing excessive or unnecessarily complex products.</li> <li>Explicitly balance the cost and value of services to provide appropriate incentives.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Assess whether existing products are better procured through competitive auctions or regulated cost of service.</li> <li>Analyze services that are currently unpaid and assess whether payments will be required in future systems to guarantee their provision.</li> <li>Understand the role of new grid services and whether components of those products can be integrated within wholesale electricity market designs.</li> <li>Analyze the impacts of centralized vs. decentralized unit commitment decisions.</li> <li>Develop improved optimization and simulation tools that account for the full range of costs and benefits of reliability services.</li> </ul>
Ensure deliverability of reliability services	• Ensure new and existing ancillary services can be delivered cost-effectively through market mechanisms, while considering a constrained T&D network.	<ul> <li>Develop improved algorithms that account for reserve deliverability in scheduling, dispatch, and market clearing.</li> <li>Consider economically efficient and reliable solutions of maintaining deliverability on the distribution system for DER-provided grid services.</li> </ul>
Maintain reliable operations during extreme events	<ul> <li>Ensure cost-effective, equitable provision of electricity services under extreme weather events.</li> <li>Support proactive and reactive decision making for operations during and after events driven by extreme weather and commoncause outages.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop grid model inputs that link with weather data and climate projections to capture the potential impacts of extreme weather events.</li> <li>Implement grid-climate linked models to identify energy services and corresponding resource needs under extreme operating conditions.</li> <li>Identify flexible resource characteristics that can support emergency operations (e.g., black-start resources) and determine proper compensation.</li> <li>Understand links with other energy networks to determine whether new products or methods are needed to ensure reliability during extreme events.</li> </ul>
Facilitate increased demand response	<ul> <li>Reflect demand characteristics in market participation models for load.</li> <li>Create incentives for demand participation through emergency response products, passive engagement, and active response through wholesale or retail incentives.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Investigate market efficiency improvements from demand response under different market participation models and incentive schemes.</li> <li>Assess past product designs for demand response to understand participation incentives and to learn from successes and failures.</li> <li>Evaluate the role of retail rates in incentivizing customer demand response and assess the associated efficiency benefits and tradeoffs across wholesale and retail markets, and the elimination of double payments.</li> </ul>

#### 2.2 INTEGRATING NEW AND EMERGING TECHNOLOGIES INTO WHOLESALE MARKET OPERATIONS

Deep decarbonization of the electric sector will likely require the adoption of a host of emerging technologies that may interact with wholesale markets differently than traditional technologies. These technologies include alternative forms of renewable energy resources (e.g., geothermal, biomass, marine hydrokinetic), dispatchable low-emissions resources (e.g., carbon capture and storage, hydrogen, flexible and modular nuclear), new types of energy storage (e.g., new battery chemistries, LDES technologies), grid controls (flexible alternating current transmission system [FACTS] devices, other power flow control technologies, transmission switching optimization), electric vehicles and other mobile assets, DERs, and new types of flexible demand, among others. High penetrations of such emerging technologies will introduce new market challenges that must be overcome to ensure that future systems can be planned and operated both cost-effectively and reliably. Several specific challenges, potential solutions, and prospective research areas are outlined in Table 2.

#### 2.2.1 New Market Participation Models

Current market participation models may not always ensure that the full suite of costs and benefits of emerging technologies are reflected in operational decision-making and long-term planning. Therefore, research is needed to inform the development and implementation of new market participation models that are either tailored for specific technologies or sufficiently generalized to provide incentive compatibility for all technologies participating in the market. Market designs should ensure incentives that are compatible with efficient, reliable operations and a level playing field across all resources.

As an example, energy storage resources face opportunity costs during dispatch that are not present in traditional supply-side resources. Batteries are subject to substantial capacity degradation that depends on how the specific assets are operated. Energy storage resources require consideration of longer sequential time periods in order to accurately determine opportunity costs and operational dispatch strategies. Capturing these characteristics can drastically change storage operations, reduce costs, and improve reliability, but may require fundamental changes in participation models and analytical tools (Levin 2023).

#### 2.2.2 Improved Technology Representation in Scheduling and Dispatch

New tools may also be needed to reflect the specific characteristics of emerging resources that influence market clearing outcomes. It is important to properly capture these characteristics in models, planning processes, operational practices, business practices, and market clearing software. For instance, energy storage technologies require algorithmic development and proper business rules to ensure that these resources are dispatched cost-effectively to support reliability objectives while also maintaining sufficient state-of-charge during all operating conditions. LDES technologies introduce additional complexity to scheduling and dispatch, which current day-ahead and real-time markets may not be able to capture. It is also challenging to minimize the possibility of infeasible dispatch outcomes for energy storage. Finally, storage operations in rolling horizon market processes risk inflicting financial losses when prices turn out differently

than anticipated; on the other hand, providing insurance against such losses through bid-cost recovery methods may provide an implicit subsidy and advantages to storage that are unavailable to other resources that are not subject to energy limits. There is also limited experience around the new technical constraints and costs of other emerging technologies such as hydrogen or carbon capture, use, and storage.

#### 2.2.3 Cross-Technology and Cross-Sectoral Coordination

New infrastructure and coordination mechanisms may be needed to support emerging technologies with cross-sectoral applications, such as across electricity, natural gas, water, heating, and transportation systems. For instance, if hydrogen becomes a more prominent as a fuel source, capturing the complex dynamics of the entire hydrogen fuel cycle becomes important—such as how hydrogen is produced (e.g., electrolysis with renewable electricity) and distributed, and what competition exists for its end use across other energy markets and sectors (e.g., heating and transportation). Capturing synergies between different energy sources, carriers, and infrastructure systems will become increasingly important under economy-wide decarbonization, as decarbonized economies will likely require a tighter coupling between energy sectors.

This trend is also challenging from a regulatory perspective; different entities are typically in charge of overseeing these complex energy infrastructure systems. There has been limited success over the past decade in coordinating gas supply management and power system operations because regulatory systems are fragmented (Ericson et al. 2019) and there is a lack of tools to manage multi-energy systems (Mancarella 2014). Both of these difficulties must be addressed in future research.

#### 2.2.4 Adequate Mechanisms for Managing Investment Risk

A related challenge is the need for markets and institutions that allow for systematic comparison and consistent evaluation of investments in generation, transmission, storage resources, and demand management. Services provided by these different investment options can substitute for one another but are procured by very different regulatory and market processes (see Section 2.7). For instance, both grid reinforcements, such as substations or new lines, and energy storage can facilitate delivery of energy from remote VRE resources. However, centralized, cost-recovery-based transmission grid planning is inefficiently coordinated with market-based procurement of storage, and methods and market structures are needed to enable direct comparisons (Lau and Hobbs 2021). Emerging technologies may also increase the need to revisit a long-standing challenge in electricity markets: providing adequate contracts and mechanisms for investors to hedge their financial risks (see Section 2.3.1). Capacity expansion models can also be enhanced to capture heterogeneous investor and technology risks as well as long-run economic and policy uncertainties when they are applied to identifying optimal infrastructure investment pathways.

#### 2.2.5 Market Power Monitoring and Mitigation

Some emerging technologies present new challenges for market power monitoring and mitigation. In particular, opportunity costs for batteries and other energy storage technologies, which determine their operational strategies, may be subjective and dependent on operator risk tolerance, making it more challenging to identify and mitigate instances when such resources exhibit noncompetitive behavior.

Overall, to ensure competitive outcomes, procedures and metrics will need to be revisited to address market power in future deeply decarbonized electricity markets. New market power metrics are also needed to better reflect the characteristics of emerging technologies. For example, such metrics should capture the impacts of resource opportunity costs, which are nonobservable, and consider factors beyond direct variable costs when determining benchmarks for competitive bidding. To this end, improved and standardized methods will be required to determine opportunity costs for different technologies under varying and uncertain system conditions.

#### 2.2.6 Equitable Technology Deployment

Finally, as recognition grows about the importance of developing and operating power systems in a manner that equitably allocates costs and benefits across market participants and consumers, it will be important to establish market rules, regulations, and policies that maintain reliability, reduce environmental impacts, and create economic opportunities for historically marginalized groups. Emerging technologies may be a key enabler to achieve this goal. For example, DERs such as rooftop solar or battery storage can improve localized reliability and provide direct economic benefits to communities where they are installed. They can also reduce reliance on emitting resources that may continue to disproportionately impact disadvantaged communities throughout the clean energy transition (Goforth and Nock 2022).

Therefore, research is needed to develop pricing schemes that account for localized environmental externalities, while also conducting targeted analyses to identify policy and regulatory mechanisms that can support efficient and equitable deployment of emerging technologies. Furthermore, planning models and procedures may need to be updated to ensure that they appropriately reflect emerging energy equity objectives Finally, new equity metrics are needed to rigorously assess how policies, regulations, and investments impact just energy outcomes for individual communities.

## Table 2. Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Integrating New and Emerging Technologies into Wholesale Market Operations

Challenge	General Solutions	Specific Research Areas
Implement new market participation models	<ul> <li>Tailored market participation models for a wider range of specific technologies.</li> <li>Generalized technology-neutral market participation models.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Design incentive compatible market participation models for all technologies.</li> <li>Develop simulation tools to analyze different participation models.</li> <li>Analyze impacts of different participation models.</li> </ul>
Improve technology representation in scheduling/dispatch	<ul> <li>Highly resolved technology representation in ISO/RTO tools.</li> <li>Market participants are empowered to manage technology constraints efficiently.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop computationally efficient tools to manage state-of-charge and capacity degradation in batteries.</li> <li>Establish methods to avoid infeasible dispatch of energy storage and other technologies with inter-temporal constraints.</li> </ul>
Enhance cross- technology and cross-sectoral coordination	<ul> <li>Simultaneous coordination and optimization across multiple technology classes.</li> <li>Simultaneous coordination and optimization across multiple energy sectors.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop new tools and methods that capture interactions and substitution effects between multiple technology classes (e.g., generation, transmission, storage, demand response).</li> <li>Develop new tools to facilitate analysis and data exchange across interconnected energy sectors (e.g., electricity, gas, hydrogen, water, heating, transportation).</li> </ul>
Manage and mitigate investment risk	<ul> <li>Improved liquidity in long-term energy markets.</li> <li>New contract designs that account for characteristics and needs of emerging technologies.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop new market products and contracts to help technologies hedge price and quantity risks, thereby lowering capital costs.</li> <li>Improve consideration of technology risk in capacity expansion models.</li> </ul>
Monitor and mitigate market power	<ul> <li>New market power metrics that consider characteristics of all technologies.</li> <li>Opportunity cost is adequately accounted for in market power monitoring.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Identify market power metrics that move beyond variable cost as a benchmark for competitive bidding.</li> <li>Establish market power metrics that account for opportunity costs and the behavior of energy-limited resources.</li> <li>Improve and standardize methods to determine opportunity costs under uncertainty.</li> </ul>
Deploy technologies equitably	• Incentivize investments (technologies, locations) that improve reliability and reduce environmental exposure for marginalized groups.	<ul> <li>Develop locational pricing schemes that account for environmental externalities.</li> <li>Identify regulatory mechanisms that enable technology deployment that is more equitable.</li> <li>Enhance planning models to capture social objectives and develop new rigorous energy equity metrics to assess impacts.</li> </ul>

#### 2.3 RESOURCE ADEQUACY (RA) AND SYSTEM RESILIENCE

Ensuring adequate resources is a core objective of power system planning and operations. This includes RA, which ensures that the system maintains sufficient supply- and demand-side resources (DSRs), as well as resilience, which reflects the system's ability to withstand and recover from extreme events. RA and resilience traditionally have been considered separately; however, there is a growing need for RA assessments to consider additional stress cases and resilience events, namely increasingly frequent extreme weather events that affect power systems.

In competitive electricity markets, there is a critical link between RA and revenue sufficiency, the latter of which reflects the opportunity for needed reliability resources to recover both fixed and variable costs from revenue streams available in the market. Ideally, market designs provide efficient price signals across the full set of market products to enable revenue sufficiency for resources needed for RA, while those that are not needed receive appropriate market exit signals. In practice, different market areas have different market paradigms for RA, each with different degrees of linkages to revenue sufficiency. In energy-only markets (e.g., the Electric Reliability Council of Texas [ERCOT]), prices for energy and ancillary services are—in principle and with limited exceptions—entirely responsible for incentivizing the new resource investments that are needed to maintain RA. Alternatively, these operational prices can also be supplemented through mandatory centralized capacity markets (e.g., PJM Interconnection [PJM], New York Independent System Operator [NYISO], ISO New England [ISO-NE]), or other capacity remuneration mechanisms (e.g., Midcontinent Independent System Operator [MISO], Southwest Power Pool [SPP], California Independent System Operator [CAISO]).

New challenges related to revenue sufficiency and RA will likely arise in a deeply decarbonized future with extremely high penetration of zero-marginal cost, weather-driven, variable resources; energy-constrained resources; and fundamentally different load profiles. These emerging system attributes collectively increase the complexity and variability of the system for which RA must still be assessed and maintained. Several specific challenges, potential solutions, and prospective research areas are outlined in Table 3.

#### 2.3.1 Revenue Sufficiency and Risk Allocation

Enhanced, economically efficient market design and operational mechanisms may be needed to help ensure revenue sufficiency and RA in a deeply decarbonized future. Some examples of such potential market enhancements include long-term forward contracts for energy and and/or clean energy, capacity markets for clean energy, capacity requirements and improved credit quantification, new market mechanisms to support market participation of reliabilityenabling emerging resources (e.g., price-responsive demand, DERs, and long-duration storage), and changes to ancillary service markets (e.g., overall design, price formation, and/or scarcity pricing mechanisms). A key challenge is determining which, if any, of these mechanisms are most efficient and effective under different system conditions.

Any of these market changes, if implemented, would directly affect many market participants, who may respond to market signals in a variety of different ways. The uncertainty

surrounding future market design changes has important consequences for long-term investment decisions, which can directly impact RA. One important consideration is the potentially evolving allocation of risk between market participants under different RA mechanisms (see Section 2.2.4). Research is needed to assess the ability of different long-term bilateral contracting mechanisms and financial products to hedge evolving investment risks under various RA frameworks.

#### 2.3.2 Supply-side Uncertainty and Variability

Many supply-side decarbonization options have a range of operational characteristics that impact RA in new ways, for example, weather driven variability, time-varying and unit-based forced outage rates, and fuel or energy system dependencies. These characteristics introduce supply-side uncertainty and variability, which makes assessing RA contributions challenging. Thus, a key challenge is ensuring that RA assessment tools can capture the implications of these new resource attributes and uncertainties. Models and tools will also need methods, data, and metrics that consider greater spatial and temporal resolution in order to assess RA in such systems. Specifically, it is crucial to develop new RA metrics and/or criteria that are not solely based on installed or unforced capacity or anticipated availability during periods of peak demand. Existing metrics that properly capture the critical dimensions of outage frequency, magnitude, duration, and timing should also be better incorporated into power system planning and resource assessment processes.

#### 2.3.3 Demand-side Uncertainty

Demand-side uncertainty is similarly increasing, as load electrification will affect both the magnitude and shape of future demand profiles. However, certain responsive loads (including electric vehicle charging and residential batteries) can provide flexibility and support grid reliability. Therefore, improved data are needed to capture the uncertainty of DSRs with high temporal and spatial resolution. Such data needs include detailed load projections under electrification futures with various degrees of load flexibility, time-varying outage rates for generators and transmission, and more granular spatial representation of the transmission network. Enhanced computational methods may be required to ensure that models using these more granular data inputs are tractable.

#### 2.3.4 Extreme Weather Events and Infrastructure Interdependencies

As discussed in Section 2.1.4, the frequency and severity of extreme weather events are expected to continue increasing under the impacts of climate change. These changes may result in periods of high electricity demand (heat waves), constrained fuel supply (cold events), or limited availability of renewable resources (IPCC 2021; Zobel et al. 2017). Extreme weather events can also introduce sustained common mode failures across generation resources and interconnected energy infrastructure (e.g., natural gas or hydrogen supply, transportation, heating). Enhanced methods may be needed to account for these events in RA assessments and mitigate their impacts in decarbonized futures, particularly those with significantly more weather-dependent resources. In particular, it is important to consider how the impact of a

reliability event scales across time and space (e.g., widespread, sustained outages are typically more impactful than localized, short outages).

These metrics will require enhanced historical datasets that contain information on weather-dependent resource availability, as well as improved forecasts across multiple horizons. Metrics should also consider climate-change-adjusted impacts, the implications of low-probability high-impact extreme events, weather-correlated generator and transmission outage rates, and infrastructure interdependencies that may lead to common mode failures. Today's power systems also have resources whose outage probabilities are correlated, strong intertemporal interconnections due to energy storage, large amounts of VRE resources, growing transmission congestion, and increasing demand response participation. Research is needed to develop new tools that capture these characteristics and correctly estimate the reliability of diverse resource portfolios.

Challenge	General Solutions	Specific Research Areas
Ensure revenue sufficiency and mitigate financial risk	<ul> <li>New market products and contract mechanisms that ensure revenue sufficiency for technologies needed for RA.</li> <li>New market and contract mechanisms that minimize financial risk and ensure low cost of capital for investments in infrastructure assets needed for RA.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop new or improved market designs to support resource adequate investments (and retirements) in VRE-dominated systems.</li> <li>Develop effective RA mechanisms for a changing resource mix, considering both energy and capacity needs and the full set of available resources (i.e., emerging technologies, DSRs, supply-side resources).</li> <li>Investigate the potential role of long-term contracts in achieving RA and revenue sufficiency.</li> <li>Investigate how market design and contract mechanisms impact cost of capital, risk, and in turn investment and/or retirement decisions and RA.</li> </ul>
Manage increasing supply-side uncertainty and variability	<ul> <li>Metrics and criteria capture impacts related to frequency, magnitude, duration, and timing of outages.</li> <li>Metrics and criteria account for evolving resource mix, system impacts, and consumer preferences.</li> <li>Improve data to capture uncertainty and variability with larger buildouts of weather-dependent resources.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Define new metrics that capture the RA implications of variable and uncertain generation supply.</li> <li>Establish new methods to use reliability metrics to inform RA planning.</li> <li>Analyze the impact of new metrics and/or criteria on investment and retirement decisions.</li> <li>Develop improved, multi-year, time-synchronous resource time series data including multiple forecast horizons and "actuals" to better represent uncertainties in operational timescale.</li> </ul>
Manage increasing demand-side uncertainty	<ul> <li>Models/metrics account for future load uncertainty due to electrification.</li> <li>Models and metrics account for demand-side flexibility and consider price responsiveness.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Create forward-looking electrification-adjusted demand projections to serve as inputs for planning tools.</li> <li>Capture anticipated changes in total demand, shifting temporal profiles, and the ability of flexible demand to support RA.</li> </ul>
Capture impacts of increasing weather dependence and extreme events	<ul> <li>Models and metrics account for the reliability impacts of anticipated future weather conditions and extreme weather events.</li> <li>Metrics capture weather-dependencies, correlated outages, and infrastructure interdependencies.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Improve representation of low-probability, high-impact events in reliability assessment and capacity expansion tools to assess RA.</li> <li>Create forward-looking datasets adjusted for climate change for input into planning tools.</li> <li>Enhance models of unit-level thermal generator outages, considering temporal variations in outage rates.</li> <li>Analyze the ways in which common mode failures across multiple infrastructures can affect the RA of electricity systems.</li> </ul>

Table 3. Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to RA and System Resilience

#### 2.4 PRICE FORMATION

By design, short-term wholesale market outcomes provide economic signals that align incentives with resource availability to support system operational reliability. Short-term market prices are also important to inform long-term investment decisions. Price formation, the process by which prices are determined through a competitive market clearing process, has been a complex topic for electricity markets since their inception. For example, bids in United States markets include generation costs, unit commitment costs, and unit commitment constraints. These same markets produce prices that are based on the incremental energy bid and capped due to market power concerns. This combined approach to market participation and price formation supports operational efficiency across the regional markets, but has also led to several challenges including: (1) misaligned incentives, (2) weakened price signals during times of true scarcity, (3) the need for substantial uplift payments to ensure cost recovery, (4) a lack of co-optimization, and (5) a lack of transparency. At the same time, the provision of energy and other grid services is not always fully co-optimized. These shortcomings can lead to cost-recovery challenges and the need for separate side payments. These five price formation issues may become more complex when zero-fuel cost resources dominate a system and when additional characteristics of emerging technologies (e.g., state of charge [SOC] for energy storage) are considered in market clearing (Zhou et al. 2022). Several related challenges, potential solutions, and prospective research areas are outlined in Table 4.

#### 2.4.1 Improved Scarcity Pricing

Scarcity pricing is crucial in forming short-term prices; however, representations of scarcity prices can be very coarse, often using a single price that does not vary over either time or geography. Because bid and price caps or market mechanisms may fail to trigger true scarcity pricing when loads are curtailed, the resulting price may be much less than the actual value of power to consumers during times of scarcity. As power systems approach higher penetrations of low-carbon resources with zero fuel cost, scarcity pricing may become increasingly important in dictating revenues for resources and driving investment and retirement decisions. Therefore, it will be important for administratively determined scarcity pricing mechanisms to accurately capture and convey the true cost of scarcity conditions through resulting market prices.

Because demand-side participation in wholesale markets remains relatively low, administrative demand curves for operating reserves are being implemented in most ISOs and RTOs, in part as a substitute for demand response (Mehrtash et al. 2023). As demand-side market participation becomes increasingly prominent, it is important to improve social science– based understandings of consumer choices. Ideally, this framework will also enable consumers to signal their own reliability preferences; however, it is important that the potential price formation and equity implications of such changes are well understood by market operators, regulators, and consumers alike.

#### 2.4.2 Enhanced Market Mechanisms for Emerging Technologies

Current price formation mechanisms may be unsuitable for the needs of systems that increasingly rely upon emerging technologies such as wind, solar, storage, and demand response (see Section 2.2.1). For example, markets are often not cleared with sufficient temporal resolution to capture the complex operational dynamics and interactions of emerging technologies and market products.

In particular, there are a number of price formation challenges specific to energy storage resources. One specific consideration is that opportunity costs and anticipated degradation influence resource supply curves. However, in the case of opportunity costs, owners have extremely diverse price expectations that may be inconsistent with system conditions. Market clearing models run by operators can manage SOC efficiently by coordinating across resources, but real-time market processes with shortened time horizons can misvalue stored energy. Meanwhile, market software and participation models may either not consider or highly simplify degradation costs, not recognizing their complex dependence on depth and rate of discharge. In general, ISOs/RTOs may not adequately capture either category of costs for energy storage (McPherson et al. 2020; Sioshansi et al. 2022; Torbaghan et al. 2021).

Therefore, price formation mechanisms may need to evolve to better consider battery degradation and opportunity costs, while continuing to mitigate market power and ensure revenue sufficiency (see Section 2.2.5). Possible improvements include enhancing current price formation methods for ancillary services that are currently based primarily on lost opportunity costs. Specifically, it is important to understand how changes in ancillary service price formation will affect the value of these services under different future system conditions. Price guarantees for energy storage resources, and LDES in particular, may also be considered by regulators or market operators.

#### 2.4.3 Uncertainty Representation in Price Formation

Work is needed to establish to what extent approaches that consider uncertainty can be implemented within market clearing algorithms. Stochastic models could be applied to understand how to revise existing market procedures to improve the efficiency of resource scheduling and dispatch under increasing uncertainty. Other changes in market structure may also be considered, such as increasing the frequency of market clearing intervals, adjusting current three-part bidding structures, or adjusting or eliminating the day-ahead market along with its unit commitment process. This is especially relevant for energy-constrained resources (e.g., energy storage and hybrid resources). For example, the existing two-settlement market clearing framework, comprising day-ahead and real-time markets, is primarily tailored to systems dominated by conventional thermal generation resources that have significant capacity constraints and considerations around the supply of fuel (e.g., natural gas). This design aims to mitigate uncertainties associated with load forecasting and system contingencies through forward-looking unit commitment. However, this approach may not fully capture the uncertainty, dynamic capabilities, and operational constraints of energy-constrained resources, which are characterized by their rapid response and flexibility. As a result, the system may not be able to capture the full flexibility of the resources in real-time operations.

#### 2.4.4 Capturing Social Objectives in Prices

Government entities are implementing diverse policies and regulations to achieve their social objectives, such as reducing greenhouse gas emissions or increasing investments in clean technologies. Price-formation mechanisms must evolve to ensure that these social objectives are appropriately represented in price signals. However, because wholesale electricity markets often span multiple states or policy jurisdictions, market operators face the challenge of ensuring fair and just market conditions for participants operating under different policy paradigms (see Section 2.7.1).

Jurisdictional interactions, such as carbon boundary adjustments, are likely to become more pronounced as decarbonization targets become more ambitious. Furthermore, differing policies could lead to different short-term market outcomes, even with similar rates of investment (Levin et al. 2019). Interactions between environmental policy and electricity market design will pose a range of challenges for ISOs and RTOs. If mismanaged, the result may be reliability challenges and costs that are and higher than necessary, without significant environmental improvements (Xu and Hobbs 2021). Furthermore, if the cost of decarbonizing becomes higher than necessary, or system reliability degrades, the result may be slower progress and perhaps weakening of public support for decarbonization objectives.

Challenge	General Solutions	Specific Research Areas
Improve scarcity pricing	<ul> <li>Scarcity pricing that captures true costs of scarcity conditions.</li> <li>Scarcity pricing mechanisms that are dynamic depending on time, location, and customer class.</li> <li>Enable customers to signal their reliability preferences through market/contract mechanisms.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Analyze how different scarcity pricing mechanisms affect system operations and price formation.</li> <li>Analyze interplay between scarcity pricing and RA mechanisms.</li> <li>Investigate the relationship between voluntary demand response and administrative scarcity pricing.</li> <li>Assess the market power impacts of different scarcity pricing schemes.</li> </ul>
Enhance market mechanisms for emerging technologies	<ul> <li>Markets that are cleared with sufficient time resolution to capture the full value of existing and new reliability services.</li> <li>Include additional continuous stages in market clearing.</li> <li>Adequately balance detail and transparency in offer formats.</li> <li>Improve representation of energy storage cost and performance characteristics in market clearing.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Analyze desirable time resolutions for market clearing of different energy and ancillary service products.</li> <li>Assess the benefits of co-optimization and more frequent market clearing.</li> <li>Investigate the market efficiency impacts of different offer formats.</li> <li>Analyze the ability of different technologies to reflect the full range of costs/constraints, including non-convex costs and opportunity costs in markets.</li> <li>Investigate cost-recovery challenges and the need for uplift payments under different market designs.</li> </ul>
Improve uncertainty representation in price formation	• Capture the impacts of uncertainty in price formation.	<ul> <li>Develop market clearing, scheduling, and pricing schemes that better account for uncertainty to achieve system cost improvements while maintaining incentive compatibility for market participants.</li> <li>Test alternative deterministic market clearing formulations (e.g., deploying dynamic operating reserves).</li> <li>Investigate the benefits, costs, and feasibility of stochastic market formulations.</li> </ul>
Reflect the value of clean energy and carbon emissions reductions in prices	<ul> <li>Capture the values of clean energy attributes and carbon externalities in price formation.</li> <li>Market designs that accommodate state, local, and regional policies and remain incentive compatible.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Investigate how different incentive schemes for clean energy and carbon emission reduction can affect price formation.</li> <li>Analyze the ways in which clean energy incentives and carbon policy interact with the formation of electricity prices.</li> <li>Assess issues presented by differing policies that are implemented across overlapping markets and jurisdictions.</li> </ul>

Table 4. Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Energy Price Formation

#### 2.5 TRANSMISSION AND DISTRIBUTION (T&D) SYSTEM COORDINATION

Bulk power systems were originally designed to serve inelastic and reasonably predictable demand by dispatching firm generation through a high-voltage transmission grid that served distribution system customers. This paradigm is being increasingly upended as VRE penetration increases at both the T&D levels.

The regulatory framework established by Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) Order 2222 is also leading to much more active participation of distribution system resources in wholesale electricity markets. The rapid anticipated future growth of DERs will require better coordination between T&D operations to manage two-way interactions between these systems. In Sections 2.5.1 through 2.5.5, we consider DSRs to be a subset of DERs and highlight key issues that are specific to DSRs. Several specific challenges, potential solutions, and prospective research areas are outlined in Table 5.

#### 2.5.1 Coordinated T&D Planning

Coordinating T&D infrastructure operations and planning will be critical to unlocking the bulk power system benefits of resources that are near consumers, for example accessing the full range of system flexibility provided by DERs. Improved T&D coordination is also needed to overcome challenges such as misaligned price signals, operational infeasibilities, and a lack of representation of network bottlenecks across the T&D interface.

To this end, research is needed to identify current and potential future regulatory and technological barriers that might prevent ISOs and RTOs from coordinating their transmission planning decisions with distribution systems in their jurisdictions. This research must also define the data requirements necessary to improve T&D coordination. New models and algorithms must be developed to manage uncertainty from variable resources in coordinated T&D planning. These tools will need to be flexible enough to be adapted to the different circumstances of various ISO and RTO regions.

#### 2.5.2 Improved Market Participation Models for DERs and DSRs

Recent rapid growth in DERs is leading to a paradigm shift in power systems, in which an increasing portion of energy production occurs on the distribution grid. This introduces a fundamental challenge to improve and extend market participation models that were historically designed for a small number of large power plants. Such models must instead encompass millions of small-scale assets, including load modifying technologies such as virtual power plants that are owned and managed by numerous entities and spread across T&D systems. Specific to DSRs, system operators currently lack insight into the willingness of customers to reduce or defer their consumption as well as the differentiated value that they place on reliability. This challenges traditional market-based frameworks, which may be replaced or supplemented by a decentralized, bilateral decision-making paradigm to incentivize DER investments and operations. Specifically, research is needed to evaluate the cost-benefit tradeoffs between two primary paradigms: (1) centralized dispatch optimization conducted by an ISO or RTO, or (2) local optimization conducted by a distribution system operator (DSO) and assess the circumstances under which each can optimally facilitate active participation of DERs in wholesale markets while leveraging the flexibility of distribution systems. A comprehensive evaluation of alternative DER scheduling policies, structures, and technologies should also be performed.

#### 2.5.3 Communications, Controls, and Dispatch Software

Widespread adoption of DER has tremendous potential to provide economic and reliability benefits to power systems—for instance, by flattening load profiles, reducing losses, decreasing distribution investments, and providing supply and storage services when and where needed by the grid. However, market scheduling software, metering practices, communications, and control technologies, as well as retail and grid access pricing structures, must evolve to provide sufficient means and incentives to realize those benefits.

From an operational perspective, new enabling technologies and communications and data management protocols are needed to support DER aggregation. DER management systems must also be developed to enable hierarchical control strategies for aggregated DER resources that provide multiple services.

#### 2.5.4 Policy and Regulatory Structures for DER Integration

To enable the goals of FERC Order 2222, more work is needed to identify optimal regulatory and technological approaches to large-scale DER integration. Specifically, research must identify which, if any, new market products will be necessary to facilitate T&D coordination in futures with significant DER participation in wholesale electricity markets. To this end, it will also be critical to develop concepts and methodologies to compute locational marginal prices for distribution grids (Andrianesis et al. 2022) and define best practices for DER aggregation. Efforts are also needed to help streamline policy structures for DERs across multiple jurisdictions and help ISOs and RTOs develop and implement optimal pathways to satisfy evolving regulatory requirements.

#### 2.5.5 Capturing Reliability Contributions from the Distribution System

Processes and mechanisms must be developed and implemented to assess the collective reliability of T&D systems while considering both the uncertainty and reliability contributions of DERs. New methods are also needed to coordinate TSO and DSO responses during emergencies. In particular, it is important to improve methods for determining the RA contributions of DERs that exhibit supply-side variability and uncertainty (see Section 2.3.2).

Challenge	General Solutions	Specific Research Areas
Improve coordination in T&D planning	<ul> <li>Establish priorities and timelines for coordinated and cooperative T&amp;D planning that are well-defined.</li> <li>Improved computational solutions to support coordinated and cooperative T&amp;D planning.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Identify the main regulatory and technological barriers that prevent ISOs/RTOs from coordinating T&amp;D planning decisions.</li> <li>Define data requirements for exchange of information between T&amp;D.</li> <li>Develop models and algorithms that consider renewable uncertainty while optimizing coordinated T&amp;D planning decisions.</li> </ul>
Streamline market participation models for DERs and DSRs	<ul> <li>Participation models that allow DERs to provide grid services.</li> <li>DER dispatch preferences that are integrated into wholesale market clearing.</li> <li>New wholesale market products that capture the value of DERs.</li> <li>Market participation models that accommodate price/reliability preferences of customers.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Determine which new products (e.g., reactive power, voltage support) will be necessary to facilitate wholesale market participation of DERs.</li> <li>Analyze the extent to which DERs can provide current market products.</li> <li>Identify and define best practices for aggregation of DERs.</li> <li>Develop methods to compute locational marginal prices for distribution grids.</li> <li>Analyze cost-benefit tradeoffs of different market structures, considering central optimization by the ISO or local optimization by the DSO or any potential structure in between.</li> <li>Investigate the value of reliability and lost load for different consumer classes.</li> </ul>
Enhance communications, controls, and dispatch software	• Improve management and communication architecture.	<ul> <li>Develop communication and data management protocols for information exchange between T&amp;D entities.</li> <li>Improve DER management systems to allow hierarchical control strategies for aggregated DER resources that provide multiple services.</li> <li>Enhance processes to coordinate TSO-DSO interactions during emergency response, including granular load curtailment strategies.</li> </ul>
Implement policy and regulatory structures for DER integration	<ul> <li>Policies and market structures that support distribution system flexibility.</li> <li>Guarantee deliverability of services provided by DERs.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Create test cases to evaluate the impacts of different policies, structures, and distribution technologies on system flexibility.</li> <li>Gather and analyze data on existing wholesale market participation of DERs.</li> <li>Evaluate the effectiveness of different policy and regulatory mechanisms at promoting DER adoption and market participation.</li> </ul>
Capture reliability contributions from the distribution system	• Appropriately represent DERs in long- term reliability studies of the bulk power system.	<ul> <li>Assess the historical reliability contributions of DERs.</li> <li>Develop optimization and simulation methods that consider DER contributions to T&amp;D system reliability.</li> <li>Develop improved methods to assess the reliability contributions of DERs.</li> </ul>

 Table 5. Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to T&D System Coordination

#### 2.6 TRANSMISSION PLANNING

The transition to a decarbonized power system presents new challenges, needs, and opportunities for transmission systems. This is especially true because most ISOs and RTOs still rely on traditional transmission expansion planning (TEP) methods that do not adequately consider some factors that drive new transmission expansion, such as the need for new transmission infrastructure to support deep decarbonization objectives (Lau and Hobbs 2021). New transmission infrastructure may be necessary to connect generation resources that are distant from loads, and thereby capture benefits from geographic resource diversity (i.e., reducing system-wide uncertainty and volatility in VRE availability). Under traditional planning paradigms, these transmission needs have not been as significant as they will be in the future, because large thermal units were often connected directly to the grid with the expectation that their generation would largely be consumed by local loads. Several specific challenges, potential solutions, and prospective research areas are outlined in Table 6.

#### 2.6.1 Multi-regional Coordination

Within each of the three large interconnections in the United States, there are multiple independent regional entities, each of which engages in its own TEP processes. This can diminish incentives for beneficial grid investments or lead to duplicative, unnecessary investments. These issues become more critical in the context of deep decarbonization targets that require significant investment to both develop new transmission lines that span two or more regions, and reinforce existing ones. It is therefore important to improve intraregional coordination of TEPs across these entities. However, individual regions maintain separate rules and planning procedures, which introduces a host of cost allocation challenges; FERC Order 1000 acknowledged these challenges, but it has not resolved them. New algorithms and methodologies may need to be developed and implemented to establish system optimal solutions while respecting the information privacy of individual planners (Mehrtash et al. 2019).

#### 2.6.2 Coordination with Generation Expansion Planning (GEP)

In most power systems, GEP and TEP are generally conducted independently or iteratively. However, in a deeply decarbonized future, ISOs and RTOs will need to improve coordination and integration between TEP and GEP, while also considering projected investments that are external to their system (Krishnan et al. 2016).

There are several ways to improve coordination between ISOs or RTOs and generation companies (Lau and Hobbs 2021): TEP/GEP co-optimization models, bi-level proactive transmission planning models that anticipate energy market reactions, and two-stage stochastic TEP models in which future installations are treated as an uncertain parameter modeled from datasets of generation interconnection queues. However, while the theory behind these methods has been established, more work is needed to improve their computational efficiency, demonstrate their practical utility, and translate them into practice.

#### 2.6.3 Interconnection Reform

The current interconnection request process in the United States has led to backlogs in VRE development. At the end of 2022, over 2,000 GW of generation and storage resources were seeking connection to the grid (over 90% of which is for zero-carbon resources like solar, wind, and battery storage). This number will likely continue to grow (Rand et al. 2023). One problem is that resource developers often submit multiple interconnection requests to reserve a queue position—irrespective of a commitment to eventually build the resource—which leads to artificial congestion in the interconnection queue.

Interconnection processes should be reformed to expedite the interconnection of economically viable wind, solar, and battery storage capacity into the transmission system. One potential solution is to implement a first-ready, first-served cluster study process instead of a serial first-come, first-served process (Boemer et al. 2022). Other options, such as connect-and-manage, which involves quickly connecting new generation resources and then relying on congestion management to maintain reliability, or other new interconnection paradigms may be necessary as the amount of new generation proposed continues to increase.

Project-by-project screening of candidate transmission expansion projects should also eventually be replaced by optimization-based TEP methods that consider multiple candidate options (e.g., volt-ampere reactive [VAr] compensators, high-voltage direct current [HVDC], and non-wires alternatives [NWAs]) simultaneously. Work is needed to evaluate the relative advantages and challenges associated with implementing each of these approaches.

#### 2.6.4 Robust and Equitable Cost Allocation

Work is also needed to develop and implement new cost-allocation measures that support beneficial investments and allocate costs to market participants in a manner commensurate with the benefits market participants receive. Specifically, new methods are needed to co-optimize energy and reserves in both short-term operations and long-term planning with high spatial resolution. At the same time, these methods should consider uncertainties, and thereby inform fair allocation of new transmission costs across multiple beneficiaries.

#### 2.6.5 Consideration of HVAC, HVDC, and Non-wires Alternatives (NWAs)

HVDC transmission lines may provide an economic option for moving large quantities of energy over long distances, but current TEP models do not properly account for the benefits of high-voltage alternating current (HVAC) and HVDC candidates. Other emerging technologies such as NWAs can defer investments in new transmission lines, but it is challenging to quantify the contributions of these technologies and allocate their costs accordingly. The same challenges are present for other supporting technologies that can reduce the need for new transmission lines or upgrades, such as power flow controls, dynamically rated lines, FACTS devices, advanced conductors, and superconductors. Current TEP methods largely overlook considerations related to reactive power and voltage stability. FACTS devices, such as phase-shifting transformers or reactive power compensators (VAr compensators), can be deployed to alleviate congestion at a lower cost than installing new transmission lines (Lumbreras and Ramos 2016). More research is needed to ensure that the reactive power benefits of FACTS and other flow controls are captured in TEP processes.

#### 2.6.6 Transmission Siting

Co-optimization frameworks should also ensure that the benefits of siting new resources, including DERs and energy storage, are captured in TEP processes. Specifically, TEP models should be extended to explicitly determine whether NWAs can effectively defer investments in new transmission lines. Furthermore, dynamic line rating technologies can be implemented in congested locations to expand line capacities when weather conditions permit. To implement these technologies, sensors will need to be installed near existing transmission assets to collect conductor temperatures in real time. Traditional TEP models and procedures should also be extended to consider both AC and HVDC candidate lines. Current transmission siting processes may not properly account for the benefits of developing infrastructure, such as existing rail lines, where rights-of-way already exist.

Challenge	General Solutions	Specific Research Areas
Improve multi- regional coordination	<ul> <li>Collaborative TEP algorithms that can identify interconnections that are beneficial to all participating systems.</li> <li>Improve coordination in national transmission planning studies.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop TEP software that can efficiently identify multiple candidate solutions for participating systems to consider.</li> <li>Ensure that TEP methods are scalable to very large systems and capture the full range of potential future operating conditions and decarbonization scenarios.</li> </ul>
Enhance coordination between TEP and GEP	<ul> <li>Stochastic TEP models that consider uncertain resource capacities.</li> <li>Coordinate TEP procedures with capacity market design.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Develop new algorithms that proactively plan transmission, considering the benefits of improved resource investment as well as operations.</li> <li>Analyze future deep decarbonization scenarios that require rapid transmission expansion to facilitate the integration of renewables.</li> </ul>
Reform interconnection processes	<ul> <li>Streamline interconnection request processes.</li> <li>Capture system-wide cost and reliability implications of individual interconnection decisions.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Analyze the impacts of an interconnection process reform in which ISOs/RTOs will perform a first-ready, first-served cluster study process.</li> <li>Develop new interconnection processes to assess the performance and verify the conformity of transmission service provider before and after commissioning to ensure plants operate continuously and reliably.</li> </ul>
Ensure robust and equitable cost allocation	<ul> <li>Cost-allocation that promotes cooperation.</li> <li>Cost-allocation processes that consider all technical contributions, economic benefits, and environmental impacts of transmission reinforcements.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Establish standardized methods to quantify the benefit of one or more new transmission lines by co-optimizing the provision of energy and reserves with and without the lines.</li> <li>Develop a wide range of operational scenarios to robustly quantify the benefit of adding new transmission lines.</li> </ul>
Improve consideration of HVAC, HVDC, and NWA	<ul> <li>Extend TEP models to consider HVDC, HVAC, and NWA options.</li> <li>Alternative financing and participation models that reflect the full value of NWAs.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Evaluate the costs and benefits of a U.S. macro-grid with HVAC and/or HVDC.</li> <li>Develop software for specific HVDC applications, such as offshore wind transmission studies.</li> <li>Investigate the tradeoffs between required transmission expansions and NWAs for deep decarbonization.</li> <li>Analyze the technical advantages of alternatives to new line construction (e.g., FACTS and VAr compensators) in post-processing analysis.</li> </ul>
Overcome barriers to transmission siting	• Use existing transmission corridors and other infrastructure (e.g., rail lines) to overcome barriers to implementing new transmission infrastructure.	<ul> <li>Analyze the costs and benefits of TEP that prioritizes upgrades to existing lines over the construction of new lines.</li> <li>Analyze the relative costs and benefits of a TEP that sites new transmission lines where rights-of-way already exist.</li> </ul>

Table 6. Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Transmission Planning

#### 2.7 ACHIEVING CLEAN ENERGY OBJECTIVES

Investments in next-generation clean energy are increasingly being driven by state clean energy policies and the private consumer demand for clean energy. One challenge of the clean energy transition will be interactions between electricity market outcomes and state-driven public policies. State public policies can affect wholesale market price signals by accelerating the retirement of existing emitting resources, or they can result in increasing investment in non-emitting generation resources. While state regulators view these actions as necessary to meet state policy, subsidized new entry can make investment more difficult for non-subsidized resources. Steps must be taken to ensure that wholesale market price signals are harmonized with policy mandates and social objectives, particularly given the jurisdictional divide between federal and state policymakers. Sections 2.1 through 2.6 primarily focus on market design, and the challenges and priorities in Sections 2.7.1 through 2.7.4 are primarily related to market structure. Several specific challenges, potential solutions, and prospective research areas are outlined in Table 7.

#### 2.7.1 Split Jurisdiction between State and Federal Policies

The split jurisdiction between federal and state regulators creates major challenges for future market design. State regulators generally have jurisdiction over the selection of generation resources, while federal regulators have jurisdiction over wholesale energy markets (*FERC v. Electric Power Supply Association* 2016). FERC and each regional market will need to establish optimal approaches to manage these regulatory interactions while maintaining system reliability. These tensions threaten to become more pronounced as some states trend toward 100% renewable portfolio standards, implement clean energy requirements, or mandate the retirement of emitting resources.

In addition, state and regional policy and regulations—both implemented and proposed to support power sector decarbonization can differ significantly from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Analysis is needed to evaluate the diverse federal, state, and local policy landscape for economic efficiency, reliability impacts, cost allocation implications, vulnerability to carbon leakage, social impacts, and biases for or against particular technologies.

#### 2.7.2 Emerging Clean Energy Market Mechanisms

Investments in new resources may increasingly be driven by policies and incentives rather than market signals. This has important implications for future market designs and raises the central question of whether markets should be restructured to help achieve clean energy objectives or whether electricity markets should remain technology and outcome agnostic (Silverman et al. 2021).

One possible approach is for deep decarbonization objectives to be facilitated by centralized clearing and contracting of new clean energy resources. Load-serving entities (LSEs) and other voluntary buyers (e.g., municipalities, corporations) could be given the option to

contract for renewable energy credits through a centrally cleared, multi-year forward market structure (Schatzki et al. 2022).

LSEs may also wish to purchase a co-optimized mix of clean energy attributes and RA products through emerging market structures in order to establish a low-cost, reliable resource mix that meets their social objectives. Examples include the forward clean energy market (FCEM) or integrated clean capacity market (ICCM) frameworks currently being considered in PJM and ISO-NE. Research is needed to understand the extent to which these approaches may reduce the transaction costs of bilateral contracts, facilitate financing of clean energy infrastructure, enable smaller voluntary buyers to procure clean energy, and support system reliability.

Another potential approach is for a state or region to adopt a clean capacity constraint. The clean capacity constraint would allow a state or other regulator to mandate that a percentage of the region's RA needs must be served by clean resources. Such an approach allows for distinct prices for conventional capacity and capacity from non-emitting resources. The grid operator would then procure the mandated amount of non-emitting resources as part of its least-cost, reliable, system mix.

#### 2.7.3 Objective Compatible Policies and Regulations

Additional challenges are introduced when policies do not perfectly align with social objectives. For example, a jurisdiction may elect to provide incentives for specific generation technologies as opposed to using market-based mechanisms to reward generators that result in decreased emissions. As additional forms of net-zero generation become technically feasible (including new nuclear, carbon capture, storage, biogas, net-zero hydrogen, virtual power plants, etc.), it may be advisable to switch the traditional renewable energy certificate (REC) to a clean electricity attribute certificate (CEAC). The CEAC better reflects the federal goal to decarbonize the electricity sector by 2035 and allows for a broader market response to zero-carbon mandates than promoting investment in specific zero-carbon technologies.

Another active area of research is to consider whether REC markets should better account for variability in the carbon intensity of the grid when clean energy is produced. Current renewable energy credit programs typically provide for a static value for all RECs, regardless of when those RECs were produced or the location of production (within any mandated geographic footprint for eligibility). Imposing carbon-indexing could result in clean energy producers receiving enhanced payments for production that occurs during times of high marginal carbon emissions on the grid and lower levels of compensation during times of low marginal carbon emissions.

#### 2.7.4 Maintaining RA and Operational Reliability

Many state-based REC programs incentivize production of electricity, without accounting for when or where the electricity is being produced. New approaches may therefore be needed to ensure that operational reliability (see Section 2.1) and RA (see Section 2.3) are maintained when significant clean energy incentives are present. Specific classes of clean technologies, such

as dispatchable emission-free resources (DEFRs), may provide reliability benefits during multiday or seasonal shortfalls of weather-dependent generation. Many DEFRs have either high capital costs and low marginal costs (e.g., small modular nuclear reactors) or low capital costs and high marginal costs (e.g., combustion turbines with green hydrogen). The differing economics across these classes of technologies will impact their interactions in competitive markets and may make it challenging for owners and operators to assess market entry opportunities, thereby introducing investment risks. This issue is particularly pressing as certain states implement restrictive policies around dispatch of fossil fuel generation, where forward reliability considerations will require RA mechanisms to explicitly recognize state environmental and clean energy policies. Research is needed to understand how centralized markets can evolve to accommodate these technologies and policies to ensure least-cost, reliable outcomes that respect both mandated and voluntary demand for clean energy.

Challenge	General Solutions	Specific Research Areas
Resolve split jurisdiction between state and federal policies	• State and federal policy makers need to collectively drive investment in resources sufficient to meet clean energy objectives.	<ul> <li>Investigate how to structure future markets to cost-effectively and reliably integrate resources that are supported by policy.</li> <li>Identify market structures that result in lower total costs of achieving clean energy targets within organized markets.</li> <li>Explore mechanisms for transitioning existing markets to an FCEM, ICCM or comparable structure.</li> </ul>
Improve coordination across policies	<ul> <li>Ensure optimal price and environmental outcomes even as clean energy investments are driven by voluntary purchases.</li> <li>Improve coordination between clean energy incentive programs and carbon abatement objectives.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Explore implications of switching from renewable energy credits to clean energy attribute credits, which can be produced from any net-zero generation resource.</li> <li>Develop standards for incorporating relative carbon abatement value into renewable energy credit markets.</li> <li>Examine whether markets can better account for localized co-benefits associated with carbon abatement policies, with a particular focus on environmental outcomes in marginalized communities.</li> </ul>
Implement objective compatible policies and regulations	• Explore policy mechanisms that incent net-zero carbon emission generation rather than technology-specific requirements.	<ul> <li>Explore allowing LSEs to signal their willingness to pay for clean energy or clean capacity that may result in more efficient procurement and dispatch.</li> <li>Determine who will contract with or otherwise procure clean firm resources (beyond voluntary measures), necessary to meet reliability targets and how LSEs will be assigned those obligations.</li> </ul>
Maintain RA and operational reliability	• Ensure that clean energy incentive contracts are structured to reward projects with high reliability value.	<ul> <li>Compare cost and reliability profile of meeting clean energy demand in a centralized versus bilateral market structure.</li> <li>Evaluate whether markets can be co-optimized to allow LSEs to meet reliability and clean energy targets at a lower cost than procuring products separately.</li> </ul>

Table 7. Market Challenges, Potential Solutions, and Research Needs Related to Achieving Clean Energy Objectives

#### **3** CONCLUSIONS AND PATH FORWARD

This report highlights a non-exhaustive list of challenges that may emerge in competitive wholesale electricity markets as power systems become increasingly decarbonized. Many of these challenges are already being experienced to some degree in current markets and may become more pronounced in the future. Others may not materialize to a significant extent until deeper decarbonization levels have been achieved. Still others may prove to never seriously disrupt the status quo, depending on which technologies and policies are used to achieve decarbonization.

We have organized our discussion across seven primary topic areas. This follows the convention used in a previously published companion report that broadly reviewed competitive market challenges across six topic areas within a shorter time horizon and without specific consideration of decarbonization (Sun et al. 2021). Here, we focus on challenges and research opportunities associated with future decarbonized power systems within these same six topics, while also adding an additional seventh topic to address issues related to cost-effectively achieving clean energy objectives through market frameworks. These categories are not mutually exclusive and many of the challenges, solutions, and associated research needs that were discussed could easily fit into two or more of these sections.

Importantly, there will not be one single optimal approach to collectively address the challenges discussed above. Rather, the best path forward will depend on market objectives, social objectives, available energy resources, and interactions with policies that have been or will be implemented to support the clean energy transition. Hence, regional solutions are likely to emerge in response to the electricity market challenges that follows from power system decarbonization. Furthermore, it will be important to revisit many of these challenges and proposed solutions as power systems and electricity markets continue to evolve, and as industry, researchers, regulators, and policymakers gain new insights along the way.

#### **4** ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was authored by Argonne National Laboratory, operated by UChicago Argonne, LLC, under Contract No. DE-AC02-06CH11357, the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), operated by Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC, for the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) under Contract No. DE-AC36-08GO28308, and Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, operated by the University of California, under Contract No. DE-AC02-05CH11231 for the DOE and was supported by the DOE Office of Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy (EERE). The authors thank Paul Spitsen (DOE) and Juan Pablo Carvallo (DOE, on detail) for supporting this work and Rob Gramlich (Grid Strategies, LLC), Debra Lew (Energy Systems Integration Group), Kong Chyong (Columbia University), Bashar Anwar (NREL), Jaquelin Cochran (NREL), Jacob Mays (Cornell University), David Hill (Columbia University), and Steve Beuning (Guzman Energy) for their comments on the manuscript.

#### **5 REFERENCES**

Aggarwal, S., Corneli, S., Gimon, E., Gramlich, R., Hogan, M., Orvis, R., Pierpont, B., 2019. *Wholesale Electricity Market Design for Rapid Decarbonization. Energy Innovation*, San Francisco, CA.

Andrianesis, P., Caramanis, M., Li, N., 2022. "Optimal Distributed Energy Resource Coordination: A Decomposition Method Based on Distribution Locational Marginal Costs." *Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) Transactions on Smart Grid* 13, 1200– 1212. https://doi.org/10.1109/TSG.2021.3123284

Batlle, C., Rodilla, P., Mastropietro, P., 2021. "Markets for Efficient Decarbonization: Revisiting Market Regulation and Design." *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine* 19, 20–28. https://doi.org/10.1109/MPE.2020.3033393

Boemer, J., Shattuck, A., Matevosyan, J., 2022. *Need for North American Interconnection Process Review*. Energy Systems Integration Group.

Botterud, A., Auer, H., 2020. "Resource Adequacy with Increasing Shares of Wind and Solar Power: A Comparison of European and U.S. Electricity Market Designs." *Economics of Energy* & *Environmental Policy* 9. https://doi.org/10.5547/2160-5890.9.1.abot

Brown, D.P., Muehlenbachs, L., 2023. "The Value of Electricity Reliability: Evidence from Battery Adoption" (Working Paper No. 23-10). *Resources for the Future*, Washington, D.C.

Corneli, S., 2020. A PRISM-based Configuration Market. World Resources Institute.

Ela, E., Billimoria, F., Ragsdale, K., Moorty, S., O'Sullivan, J., Gramlich, R., Rothleder, M., Rew, B., Supponen, M., Sotkiewicz, P., 2019. "Future Electricity Markets: Designing for Massive Amounts of Zero-Variable-Cost Renewable Resources." *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine* 17, 58–66. https://doi.org/10.1109/MPE.2019.2933281

Ela, E., Milligan, M., Bloom, A., Botterud, A., Townsend, A., Levin, T., 2014. *Evolution of Wholesale Electricity Market Design with Increasing Levels of Renewable Generation* (NREL/TP-5D00-61765). National Renewable Energy Laboratory.

Ela, E., Mills, A., Gimon, E., Hogan, M., Bouchez, N., Giacomoni, A., Ng, H., Gonzalez, J., DeSocio, M., 2021. "Electricity Market of the Future: Potential North American Designs Without Fuel Costs." *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine* 19, 41–52. https://doi.org/10.1109/MPE.2020.3033396

Ericson, S., Logan, J., Kaffine, D., 2019. *Managing the Electricity-Gas Interface: Current Environment and Emerging Solutions* (NREL/TP-6A50-71750). https://doi.org/10.2172/1547264

FERC (Federal Energy Regulatory Commission) v. Electric Power Supply Association, 2016.

Goforth, T., Nock, D., 2022. "Air pollution disparities and equality assessments of US national decarbonization strategies." *Nature Communications* 13, 7488. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-022-35098-4

Hogan, W.W., 2022. "Electricity Market Design and Zero-Marginal Cost Generation." *Current Sustainable/Renewable Energy Reports* 9, 15–26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40518-021-00200-9

Hogan, W.W., 2010. "Electricity Wholesale Market Design in a Low-Carbon Future," in: *Harnessing Renewable Energy in Electric Power Systems*. Routledge.

IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), 2021. "Summary for Policymakers." In: *Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change* (V. Masson-Delmotte et al. [eds.]). Cambridge University Press, 3–32. doi:10.1017/9781009157896.001

Joskow, P.L., 2019. "Challenges for wholesale electricity markets with intermittent renewable generation at scale: the US experience." *Oxford Review of Economic Policy* 35, 291–331. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grz001

Krishnan, V., Ho, J., Hobbs, B.F., Liu, A.L., McCalley, J.D., Shahidehpour, M., Zheng, Q.P., 2016. "Co-optimization of electricity transmission and generation resources for planning and policy analysis: review of concepts and modeling approaches." *Energy Systems* 7, 297–332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12667-015-0158-4

Lau, J., Hobbs, B.F., 2021. *Electricity Transmission System Research and Development: Economic Analysis and Planning Tools*. Transmission Reliability and Renewable Integration Program Advanced Grid R&D, Office of Electricity, U.S. Department of Energy, Washington D.C. https://doi.org/10.2172/1825004

Leslie, G.W., Stern, D.I., Shanker, A., Hogan, M.T., 2020. "Designing electricity markets for high penetrations of zero or low marginal cost intermittent energy sources." *The Electricity Journal, Special Issue: The Future Electricity Market Summit* 33, 106847. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tej.2020.106847

Levin, T., 2023. "Energy Storage Solutions to Decarbonize Electricity through Enhanced Capacity Expansion Modeling." *Nature Energy* 8, 1199-1208. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41560-023-01340-6

Levin, T., Kwon, J., Botterud, A., 2019. "The long-term impacts of carbon and variable renewable energy policies on electricity markets." *Energy Policy* 131, 53–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.02.070

Lumbreras, S., Ramos, A., 2016. "The new challenges to transmission expansion planning. Survey of recent practice and literature review." *Electric Power Systems Research* 134, 19–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.epsr.2015.10.013

Mancarella, P., 2014. "MES (multi-energy systems): An overview of concepts and evaluation models." *Energy* 65, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2013.10.041

McPherson, M., McBennett, B., Sigler, D., Denholm, P., 2020. "Impacts of storage dispatch on revenue in electricity markets." *Journal of Energy Storage* 31, 101573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.est.2020.101573

Mehrtash, M., Hobbs, B.F., Ela, E., 2023. "Reserve and Energy Scarcity Pricing in United States Power Markets: A Comparative Review of Principles and Practices." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 183, 113465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2023.113465.

Mehrtash, M., Kargarian, A., Mohammadi, A., 2019. "Distributed optimisation-based collaborative security-constrained transmission expansion planning for multi-regional systems." *The Institution of Engineering and Technology Generation, Transmission & Distribution* 13, 2819–2827. https://doi.org/10.1049/iet-gtd.2018.6555

Newbery, D., Pollitt, M.G., Ritz, R.A., Strielkowski, W., 2018. "Market design for a high-renewables European electricity system." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 91, 695–707. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.04.025

Olsen, A., Hull, S., Ming, Z., Schlag, N., Duff, C., 2021. *Scalable Markets for the Energy Transition: A Blueprint for Wholesale Electricity Market Reform*. Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc., San Francisco, CA.

O'Neill, R.P., Fisher, E.B., Hobbs, B.F., Baldick, R., 2008. "Towards a complete real-time electricity market design." *Journal of Regulatory Economics* 34, 220–250. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11149-008-9062-3

O'Shaughnessy, E., Shah, M., Parra, D., Ardani, K., 2022. "The demand-side resource opportunity for deep grid decarbonization." *Joule* 6, 972–983. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2022.04.010

Pierpont, B., Nelson, D., 2017. "Markets for low carbon, low cost electricity systems." *Climate Policy Initiative Working Paper*. https://climatepolicyinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/CPI-Markets-for-low-carbon-low-cost-electricity-systems-October-2017.pdf

Rai, A., Nunn, O., 2020. "On the impact of increasing penetration of variable renewables on electricity spot price extremes in Australia." *Economic Analysis and Policy* 67, 67–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eap.2020.06.001

Rand, J., Strauss, R., Gorman, W., Seel, J., Mulvaney Kemp, J., Jeong, S., Robson, D., Wiser, R., 2023. *Queued Up: Characteristics of Power Plants Seeking Transmission Interconnection As of the End of 2020*. https://doi.org/10.2172/1784303

Schatzki, T., Llop, C., Ross, P., Shen, J., Stuart, D., Farrell, T., McManamy, C., Daniels, L., Ma, S., 2022. *Pathways Study: Evaluation of Pathways to a Future Grid*. Analysis Group. https://www.iso-ne.com/static-assets/documents/2022/04/schatzki-et-al-pathways-final.pdf

Sioshansi, R., Denholm, P., Arteaga, J., Awara, S., Bhattacharjee, S., Botterud, A., Cole, W., Cortés, A., Queiroz, A. de, DeCarolis, J., Ding, Z., DiOrio, N., Dvorkin, Y., Helman, U.,

Johnson, J.X., Konstantelos, I., Mai, T., Pandžić, H., Sodano, D., Stephen, G., Svoboda, A., Zareipour, H., Zhang, Z., 2022. "Energy-Storage Modeling: State-of-the-Art and Future Research Directions." *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems* 37, 860–875. https://doi.org/10.1109/TPWRS.2021.3104768

Silverman, A., Lawrence, K., DeLosa, J., 2021. *Alternative Resource Adequacy Structures for New Jersey*. New Jersey Board of Public Utilities.

Sun, Y., Frew, B., Levin, T., Hytowitz, R., Kwon, J., Mills, A., Xu, Q., Heidarifar, M., Singhal, N., Mello, P. de, Ela, E., Botterud, A., Zhou, Z., Hobbs, B., Montanes, C.C., 2021. *Research Priorities and Opportunities in United States Competitive Wholesale Electricity Markets* (NREL/TP-6A20-77521). National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, CO.

Tarel, G., Korpås, M., Botterud, A., 2022. *Long-term Equilibrium in Electricity Markets with Renewables and Energy Storage Only* (CEEPR WP 2022-012). Massachusetts Institute of Technology Center for Energy and Environmental Policy Research, Cambridge, MA.

Tierney, S., 2018. *Resource Adequacy and Wholesale Market Structure for a Future Low-Carbon Power System in California*. Analysis Group.

Torbaghan, S.S., Madani, M., Sels, P., Virag, A., Le Cadre, H., Kessels, K., Mou, Y., 2021. "Designing day-ahead multi-carrier markets for flexibility: Models and clearing algorithms." *Applied Energy* 285, 116390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.116390

Wiser, R.H., Mills, A., Seel, J., Levin, T., Botterud, A., 2017. *Impacts of Variable Renewable Energy on Bulk Power System Assets, Pricing, and Costs.* Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, CA. https://doi.org/10.2172/1411668

Wolak, F.A., 2021. "Market Design in an Intermittent Renewable Future: Cost Recovery with Zero-Marginal-Cost Resources." *IEEE Power and Energy Magazine* 19, 29–40. https://doi.org/10.1109/MPE.2020.3033395

Xu, Q., Hobbs, B.F., 2021. "Economic efficiency of alternative border carbon adjustment schemes: A case study of California Carbon Pricing and the Western North American power market." *Energy Policy* 156, 112463. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2021.112463

Zhou, Z., Botterud, A., Levin, T., 2022. *Price Formation in Zero-Carbon Electricity Markets: The Role of Hydropower* (ANL-22/31). Argonne National Laboratory, Lemont, IL. https://doi.org/10.2172/1877029

Zobel, Z., Wang, J., Wuebbles, D.J., Kotamarthi, V.R., 2017. "High-Resolution Dynamical Downscaling Ensemble Projections of Future Extreme Temperature Distributions for the United States." *Earth's Future* 5, 1234–1251. https://doi.org/10.1002/2017EF000642



## **Energy Systems and Infrastructure Analysis Division**

Argonne National Laboratory 9700 South Cass Avenue, Bldg. 362 Lemont, IL 60439-4854

www.anl.gov



U.S. DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY Argonne National Laboratory is a U.S. Department of Energy laboratory managed by UChicago Argonne, LLC.